

Open Access Repository

www.ssoar.info

Attracting and Protecting Seasonal Workers from Third Countries: Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN)

Lechner, Claudia

Veröffentlichungsversion / Published Version Arbeitspapier / working paper

Empfohlene Zitierung / Suggested Citation:

Lechner, C. (2020). Attracting and Protecting Seasonal Workers from Third Countries: Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN). (Working Paper / Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge (BAMF) Forschungszentrum Migration, Integration und Asyl (FZ), 89). Nürnberg: Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge (BAMF) Forschungszentrum Migration, Integration und Asyl (FZ); Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge (BAMF) Nationale Kontaktstelle für das Europäische Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN). https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-71252-8

Nutzungsbedingungen:

Dieser Text wird unter einer Deposit-Lizenz (Keine Weiterverbreitung - keine Bearbeitung) zur Verfügung gestellt. Gewährt wird ein nicht exklusives, nicht übertragbares, persönliches und beschränktes Recht auf Nutzung dieses Dokuments. Dieses Dokument ist ausschließlich für den persönlichen, nicht-kommerziellen Gebrauch bestimmt. Auf sämtlichen Kopien dieses Dokuments müssen alle Urheberrechtshinweise und sonstigen Hinweise auf gesetzlichen Schutz beibehalten werden. Sie dürfen dieses Dokument nicht in irgendeiner Weise abändern, noch dürfen Sie dieses Dokument für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, aufführen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Mit der Verwendung dieses Dokuments erkennen Sie die Nutzungsbedingungen an.



Terms of use:

This document is made available under Deposit Licence (No Redistribution - no modifications). We grant a non-exclusive, non-transferable, individual and limited right to using this document. This document is solely intended for your personal, non-commercial use. All of the copies of this documents must retain all copyright information and other information regarding legal protection. You are not allowed to alter this document in any way, to copy it for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the document in public, to perform, distribute or otherwise use the document in public.

By using this particular document, you accept the above-stated conditions of use.







Attracting and Protecting Seasonal Workers from Third Countries

Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN)

Working Paper 89 Claudia Lechner



Attracting and Protecting Seasonal Workers from Third Countries

Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN)

Claudia Lechner

The European Migration Network

The European Migration Network (EMN) was launched by the European Commission in 2003 due to an initiative of the European Council in order to satisfy the need of a regular exchange of reliable information in the field of migration and asylum at the European level. Since 2008, Council Decision 2008/381/EC forms the permanent legal basis of the EMN and National Contact Points have been established in the EU Member States (with the exception of Denmark, which has observer status) plus Norway.

The EMN's role is to meet the information needs of European Union institutions, Member States' authorities and institutions as well as the wider public by providing up-to-date, objective, reliable and comparable information on migration and asylum, with a view to supporting policymaking in these areas. The National Contact Point for Germany is located at the Federal Office for Migration and Refugees in Nuremberg. Its main task is to implement the annual work programme of the EMN. This includes the drafting of the annual policy report "Migration, Integration, Asylum" and of up to four topic specific studies, as well as answering Ad-Hoc Queries launched by other National Contact Points or the European Commission. The German National Contact Point also carries out visibility activities and networking in several forums, e.g. through the organisation of conferences or the participation in conferences in Germany and abroad. Furthermore, the National Contact Points in each country set up national networks consisting of organisations, institutions and individuals working in the field of migration and asylum.

In general, the National Contact Points do not conduct primary research but collect, analyse and present existing data. Exceptions might occur when existing data and information are not sufficient. EMN studies are elaborated in accordance with uniform specifications valid for all EU Member States plus Norway in order to achieve comparable EU-wide results. Furthermore, the EMN has produced a Glossary, which ensures the application of comparable terms and definitions in all national reports and is available on the national and international EMN websites.

Upon completion of national reports, the European Commission drafts a synthesis report with the support of a service provider. This report summarises the most significant results of the individual national reports. In addition, topic-based policy briefs, so-called EMN Informs, are produced in order to present and compare selected topics in a concise manner. The EMN Bulletin, which is published quarterly, informs about current developments in the EU and the Member States. With the work programme of 2014, the Return Expert Group (REG) was created to address issues around voluntary return, reintegration and forced return.

All EMN publications are available on the website of the European Commission Directorate-General for Migration and Home Affairs. The national studies of the German National Contact Point as well as the synthesis reports, Informs and the Glossary are also available on the national website: www.emn-germany.de



Summary 5

Summary

This study represents Germany's contribution to the EMN study 'Attracting and Protecting Seasonal Workers from Third Countries in the EU'. It will be implemented in all participating EU Member States and Norway in accordance with common procedures. The results of the national study will then be incorporated into a comparative synthesis report, which will provide an overview of the recruitment and working conditions of seasonal workers within the EU.

High demand for foreign seasonal workers

Seasonal sectors of the economy – such as agriculture, tourism and the fairground industry – are often dependent on seasonal workers. Germany had in the past, and currently continues to have a high demand for foreign seasonal workers. This was made particularly clear by the entry restrictions introduced due to the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020. In March 2020, there was a shortage of tens of thousands of foreign seasonal workers in the agricultural sector, who could not be replaced by domestic workers. As a result, a special regulation had to be issued, which allowed a limited number of foreign seasonal workers to work as harvest helpers subject to strict conditions.

Employment of seasonal workers from EU Member States

Unlike in many other EU Member States, the demand for seasonal workers in Germany has so far been met mainly by EU nationals, in particular from Poland and Romania. However, according to the employers' associations as well as the Federal Employment Agency (Bundesagentur für Arbeit), there has been a decline in EU nationals' interest in seasonal work in Germany – especially in the agricultural sector in recent years. Therefore they anticipate that there will be an increasing demand for seasonal workers from third countries in the future.

Transposition of the EU Seasonal Workers Directive (2014/36/EU)

In Germany, third-country nationals can be employed as seasonal workers under certain terms and conditions pursuant to EU Directive 2014/36/EU¹ of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 February 2014 on the conditions of entry and stay of thirdcountry nationals for the purpose of employment as seasonal workers (EU Seasonal Workers Directive). It has been transposed in Section 15a of the Employment Regulation (Beschäftigungsverordnung). Bilateral agreements between the Federal Employment Agency and the relevant third countries provide the basis for the transposition of the EU Seasonal Workers Directive in Germany. The International Placement Service of the Federal Employment Agency (Zentrale Auslandsund Fachvermittlung der Bundesagentur für Arbeit) and the partner administrations of the third countries are responsible for the placement of seasonal workers.

Initial placement agreements with third countries

Placement agreements were concluded with the former EU accession candidates Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Hungary as well as Romania, Bulgaria and Croatia, but these agreements expired when these countries joined the EU. Since then, nationals of these countries have benefited from the free movement of workers. As before their EU accession, the demand for seasonal workers has been met mainly by these countries. Since the end of 2018, the Federal Employment Agency has been authorised to conclude agreements on the recruitment of seasonal workers from third countries on behalf of the Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs (Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales) and the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft). A placement agreement was then concluded with Georgia in early 2020. However, the placement of seasonal workers in agriculture, which was planned as a pilot project from May 2020, was postponed due to the outbreak of COVID-19. The

Directive 2014/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 February 2014 on the conditions of entry and stay of third-country nationals for the purpose of employment as seasonal workers.

6 Summary

Federal Employment Agency remains in contact with other third countries such as Bosnia-Herzegovina, Albania, Moldova and North Macedonia with a view to initiating bilateral placement agreements.

The bilateral cooperation agreement concluded between the Federal Employment Agency and the labour ministry of Georgia is based on the EU Seasonal Workers Directive, which is intended to ensure that all aspects of the placement agreement comply with the protection of the rights of seasonal workers. The workers employed in the Federal Republic of Germany in this context may not, as a matter of principle, be employed on less favourable conditions than comparable domestic employees or workers of equivalent status. This means, for instance, that the minimum wage and statutory working hours also apply to them.

Working conditions and measures to safeguard the rights of seasonal workers

Regulations have been issued to monitor the terms and conditions of employment and to protect the rights of seasonal workers. Under the provisions set forth in the Act Regulating a General Minimum Wage (Mindestlohngesetzes), for instance, employers are obliged to record the beginning, end and duration of daily working hours. The provision of adequate accommodation by the enterprise and the wording of employment contracts in the respective national language, inter alia, are monitored.

Ensuring fair and attractive wage and working conditions is a factor that will help Germany to remain competitive for seasonal workers in pan-European labour markets. Challenges arise, amonst others, in connection with the transferability of social security contributions to the countries of origin of seasonal workers.

Contents 7

Contents

	The European Migration Network	2
	Summary	5
1	Introduction	11
2	Background, legal framework and composition of seasonal workers in Germany	12
3	Recruitment of seasonal workers	17
4	Working conditions and measures to safeguard the rights of seasonal workers	23
5	Conclusion	26
	Bibliography	27
	List of Abbreviations	31
	List of Tables	31
	Publications of the Research Centre of the Federal Office (Selection)	32

Table of Contents

Table of Contents

	The	European Migration Network	4
	Sum	imary	5
1	Intr	oduction	11
2		kground, legal framework and composition easonal workers in Germany	12
	2.1	Definition of and background to seasonal work	12
	2.2 2.2.1 2.2.2	Possibilities for third-country nationals to take up temporary work in seasonal activities Employment of seasonal workers under the EU Seasonal Workers Directive (Directive 2014/36/EU) Alternative possibilities of seasonal work for third-country nationals	13 13 15
	2.3	Composition of seasonal workers	15
3	Reci	ruitment of seasonal workers	17
	3.1 3.1.1 3.1.2	Placement agreements with third countries Sectoral and temporal employment restrictions Working conditions	17 18 18
	3.2	Recent developments associated with COVID-19	21
4		king conditions and measures to safeguard rights of seasonal workers	23
	4.1	Monitoring of employment conditions and protection of the rights of seasonal workers	23
	4.2	Working conditions for seasonal workers	24
5	Con	clusion	26
	Bibl	iography	27
	List	of Abbreviations	31
	List	of Tables	31
		lications of the Research Centre ne Federal Office (Selection)	32

Introduction 11

1 Introduction

Seasonal economic sectors such as agriculture, often have difficulty finding sufficient domestic labour at peak times and are therefore temporarily dependent on foreign seasonal workers. Whereas workers from EU Member States enjoy unrestricted freedom of movement in Germany and do not require a work permit, different rules apply to seasonal workers from third countries. In Germany, the EU Seasonal Workers Directive (2014/36/EU)2, transposed in Section 15a of the Employment Regulation, allows third-country nationals to be employed as seasonal workers under certain conditions and requirements. Bilateral agreements between the Federal Employment Agency and interested third countries or the countries in question provide the basis for the transposition of the EU Seasonal Workers Directive in Germany. Since the expiry of the agreements with the former EU accession candidates, no further agreements were concluded initially. A placement agreement was concluded with Georgia in early 2020.

The aim of this EMN study is to provide an overview of the recruitment policies and working conditions of seasonal workers from third countries. Since the majority of seasonal workers employed in Germany continue to come from EU countries, the figures and explanations relating to the employment of foreign seasonal workers mentioned in the study often do not refer exclusively to third-country nationals, but also partly to seasonal workers from EU Member States. The study first provides an overview of the background, legal framework and composition of seasonal workers in Germany (Chapter 2). In Chapter 3, the study goes into more detail on the recruitment of seasonal workers, the legal basis and regulations governing the placement agreements. In addition, more recent developments caused by the COVID-19 pandemic are discussed. The study also examines measures to safeguard the rights of seasonal workers and briefly examines the working conditions of seasonal workers (Chapter 4). Last but not least, Chapter 5 summarises the main findings.

The study is mainly based on an evaluation of the literature on selected aspects of the topic and on analyses of relevant legal provisions. Staff from the Federal Employment Agency were interviewed and asked to clarify specific questions.

This study represents Germany's contribution to the EMN study "Attracting and Protecting Seasonal Workers from Third Countries in the EU". It is being conducted in all participating EU Member States and Norway in accordance with common procedures. The results of the national study will then be incorporated into a comparative synthesis report, which will provide a comparative overview of measures relating to the recruitment and working conditions of seasonal workers in the EU Member States.

² Directive 2014/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 February 2014 on the conditions of entry and stay of third-country nationals for the purpose of employment as seasonal workers.

2 Background, legal framework and composition of seasonal workers in Germany

2.1 Definition of and background to seasonal work

There is no uniform definition of seasonal work. However, the different definitions have the same characteristics, namely seasonal fluctuations in the volume of work and, depending on this, the limited duration of the employment relationship. Seasonal workers do not usually move their place of residence to the place of employment. In the case of workers from third countries, the residence remains in a country other than the country in which the seasonal employment takes place (Späth et al. 2018; OECD 2008; López-Sala et al. 2016).

The Federal Government defines seasonal workers as "employees who are temporarily employed by an employer domiciled in Germany and carry out activities, which, due to a recurring seasonal event or a recurring sequence of seasonal events, are tied to a particular season, with the demand for labour significantly exceeding the demand for the activities normally carried out" (Deutscher Bundestag 2015: 4).

In Germany these are, in particular, employees

- in agriculture and horticulture (e.g., harvest helpers on special crop farms specializing, for instance, in fruit growing, vegetable production or viticulture).
- in tourism, especially in hotels and restaurants and in businesses or parts of businesses, which are not open all year round (e.g., beer gardens, ski huts) or which have to cover an increased demand for labour during certain limited periods (e.g., restaurants popular with day-trippers)
- in the fairground industry (e.g., accompanying personnel for rides) (Zoll n. d.).

The employment of seasonal workers is of great importance for many enterprises in the above-mentioned sectors. "Enterprises must be able to cover their seasonal labour requirements flexibly depending on circumstances such as the weather or the market situation" (BMEL 2020a). Due to the challenging working conditions and the lack of young domestic workers in the sector, however, it is often not possible to meet the demand with domestic workers, which means that the enterprises are reliant on foreign workers (Parusel/ Schneider 2010: 67).

The aim of the regulations governing seasonal employment is to bridge a temporary "demand for labour at peak times" (Parusel/Schneider 2010: 21). In Germany, the immigration of seasonal workers is regarded as the immigration of persons with no qualified vocational training, which is only provided for to a limited extent in German immigration law (SVR 2018: 21). There are, however, exceptions to this rule "if supplementary provisions set forth in the Employment Regulation permit this or an intergovernmental agreement has been concluded" (SVR 2018: 21).

While workers from EU Member States do not need a work permit, the admission of foreign seasonal workers from third countries requires bilateral placement agreements to be concluded between the Federal Employment Agency and the ministry of labour or an appropriate institution in the respective country of origin (Chapter 3.1). The International Placement Service of the Federal Employment Agency (Zentrale Auslandsund Fachvermittlung der Bundesagentur für Arbeit) is responsible for the placement of seasonal workers.

Before the EU's eastern enlargement, bilateral agreements on seasonal work were in force with Poland, Romania, Hungary, Slovakia, the Czech Republic, Croatia, Slovenia and Bulgaria (SVR 2018: 21). With the accession of these countries to the EU in 2004, 2007 and 2013, respectively, and the expiry of the transitional arrangements regarding the free move-

ment of workers from the new EU Member States (2011, 2014 and 2015), the placement agreements with these countries also expired.

Since then, no placement agreements had been concluded with third countries until 2020, partly due to the fact that, in the Federal Government's view, it was possible to meet the demand for seasonal workers with German nationals and EU nationals (Brinkmann 2017: 4). In particular the hotel and restaurant industry, the construction industry and, more recently, the agricultural sector have been complaining increasingly about shortages that could no longer be bridged by EU workers (SVR 2018: 16). Experts assume that this situation will become even more acute in the future, since, inter alia, "the supply of workers from the eastern EU Member States entitled to freedom of movement will continue to decline as the local economic situation in their countries improves" (GLFA 2019; SVR 2018: 16; Fuchs/Kubis/Schneider 2018; response of the Federal Employment Agency).

2.2 Possibilities for thirdcountry nationals to take up temporary work in seasonal activities

2.2.1 Employment of seasonal workers under the EU Seasonal Workers Directive (Directive 2014/36/EU)

Directive 2014/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 February 2014 on the conditions of entry and stay of third-country nationals for the purpose of employment as seasonal workers, which was adopted on 26 February 2014, is intended to harmonise the programmes for seasonal workers. It was created primarily to help manage and control seasonal migratory flows and to protect the rights of seasonal workers.

The Directive lays down the conditions and standards for entry and stay of third-country nationals employed as seasonal workers (SVR 2018: 18). The Directive aims to set out "fair and transparent rules for admission and stay" and also provides for "safeguards to prevent overstaying or temporary stay from becoming permanent". The Directive is also intended to "contribute [...] to ensuring decent working and living conditions for

seasonal workers" (recital 7 of the Seasonal Workers Directive (Directive 2014/115/EU)).

On some points, the Directive contains specific requirements for EU Member States (SVR 2018: 18): for instance, the length of stay of seasonal workers in the European Union is limited to between five and nine months per year, during which time their main residence remains in the third country. Beyond this, however, Member States retain a certain degree of discretion, for instance, in determining the immigration figures. It is, for instance, up to the Member States to decide which and how many migrants they will admit.

Transposition of the EU Seasonal Workers Directive (2014/36/EU) into German law

Germany has transposed the Directive into national law. The transposition took place with the 'Act on the Transposition of Residence Law Directives of the European Union on Labour Migration' (Gesetz zur Umsetzung aufenthaltsrechtlicher Richtlinien der Europäischen Union zur Arbeitsmigration), which entered into force on 1 August 2017.³

With the transposition of the Directive, Section 15a of the Employment Regulation was added, enabling the conditions for the granting of a work permit for short-term stays of up to 90 days and the entry and employment of third-country nationals for a period of up to six months (Bundesrat 2017: 1).

^{3 &#}x27;Act on the Transposition of Residence Law Directives of the European Union on Labour Migration' (Gesetz zur Umsetzung aufenthaltsrechtlicher Richtlinien der Europäischen Union zur Arbeitsmigration) of 12 May 2017. Federal Law Gazette I 2017 p. 1106.

Table 1: Transposition of the EU Seasonal Workers Directive into German law

New regulations on seasonal work: transposition of the EU Seasonal Workers Directive (2014/36/EU) into German law				
Section 15a of the Employ- ment Regulation	Section 15a of the Employment Regulation defines the prerequisites for issuing work permits for short-term stays of up to 90 days within a period of 180 days and, in principle, for the entry and employment of third-country nationals for a period of up to six months.			
Section 4a subsection 4 of the Residence Act	For short stays of up to 90 days within a reference period of 180 days, third-country nationals who are exempt from the visa requirement do not need a seasonal worker visa and hence a residence permit. In these cases, the Federal Employment Agency issues a work permit pursuant to Section 15a subsection 1 sentence 1 no. 1 of the Employment Regulation. The Federal Employment Agency issues approval for stays of more than 90 days per 180-day period. However, the person needs a work permit pursuant to Section 19c subsection 1 of the Residence Act in conjunction with Section 15a subsection 1 sentence 1 no. 2 a) of the Employment Regulation. This is issued by the foreigners authority. Third-country nationals requiring a visa therefore always require a residence title.			
Section 41 of the Residence Act	The approval may be revoked and the seasonal work permit withdrawn if the foreigner is employed on less favourable terms than comparable German nationals or if grounds for denial under Section 40 of the Residence Act exist.			
Section 39 subsection 6 sentence 3 of the Residence Act				

Visa requirements and work permits for seasonal workers

With the implementation of the Directive, seasonal workers from visa-exempt countries no longer require a residence permit for entry and employment, provided that the duration of employment does not exceed 90 days within a 180-day period (Section 4a subsection 4 of the Residence Act in conjunction with Section 15a subsection 1 sentence 1 no. 1 of the Employment Regulation). However, they may only perform seasonal work if they have a work permit issued by the Federal Employment Agency, which the employer needs to apply for pursuant to Section 39 subsection 4 of the Residence Act in conjunction with Section 15a subsection 4 of the Employment Regulation. If, in the case of an originally issued work permit, the period of stay is extended beyond the permitted visa-exempt 90 days within the 180-day period, the seasonal worker needs a residence title, which can be applied for in Germany and is issued by the foreigners authority (Section 39 no. 11 of the Residence Ordinance (Aufenthaltsverordnung)). The granting of the residence permit requires the approval of the Federal Employment Agency.

Seasonal workers from **non-visa-exempt countries** continue to need a visa (Section 15a subsection 1 sentence 1 no. 2b of the Employment Regulation). Here, as with other work visas, the Federal Employment Agency is involved in the approval procedure. For seasonal employment planned to be of a duration of more than 90 days from the outset (Section 15a sub-

section 1 sentence 1 no. 2 a) of the Employment Regulation), a national visa must be issued to third-country nationals. The Federal Employment Agency must also issue its approval in these cases.

Basic requirements for approval of the granting of a residence permit or a work permit

Section 15a subsection 2 of the Employment Regulation sets out the requirements for approval of the granting of a residence permit or a work permit. It stipulates that the following requirements must be met:

- 1. Proof of sufficient health insurance coverage,
- 2. The availability of adequate accommodation and
- The existence of a specific job offer or a valid employment contract that sets out certain terms and conditions, including pay, working hours and the duration of paid leave.

Labour market test

When work permits are issued, there is no need to carry out a labour market test if the Federal Employment Agency has determined admission figures (Section 15a subsection 6 of the Employment Regulation). If no admission figures have been determined, a labour market test is carried out pursuant to Section 39 subsections 2 and 6 of the Residence Act. The labour market test includes "examining whether there are domestic candidates with preferential rights or equiva-

lent candidates available for the specific job" (BA 2017: 18). Preference is given to German nationals, applicants from the European Union, the European Economic Area and Switzerland as well as third-country nationals with unrestricted access to the labour market, such as recognised refugees.

Revocation of approval and withdrawal of the work permit

In order to ensure the stability and monitoring of the labour market as well as the social protection of workers from third countries, regulations have been introduced on the revocation and withdrawal of work permits or approval by the Federal Employment Agency (Huber/Göbel-Zimmermann 2016). Among other things, this is intended to protect domestic workers from wage dumping (Deutscher Bundestag 2017). Pursuant to Section 41 of the Residence Act, the approval of employment may be revoked and the seasonal work permit withdrawn if the foreigner is employed on less favourable terms than German nationals employed in an equivalent position or if grounds for denial stipulated in Section 40 of the Residence Act exist.

This means the approval of employment pursuant to Section 39 of the Residence Act is to be denied if the employment has come about on the basis of unlawful placement or recruitment, or if the foreigner intends to take up employment as a temporary worker (Section 1 subsection 1 of the Act on Temporary Employment Businesses (Arbeitnehmerüberlassungsgesetz4)). In addition, the approval of employment may be denied pursuant to Section 40 subsection 1 or 2 of the Residence Act if the offence of clandestine employment has been committed, or there are other important grounds relating to the individuals themselves. Reasonable facts must exist for the revocation (Huber/ Göbel-Zimmermann 2016). Reasons attributable to the individual must indicate that he or she "will display 'unreliability' with regard to future compliance with the legal obligations applicable to him or her in connection with the employment relationship" (Hänsle 2020). This is the case, for instance, "if there is evidence of unauthorised alteration of personal data" by the individual (Hänsle 2020).

Bilateral agreements between the Federal Employment Agency and the labour administration of the country of origin

However, the possibility for third-country nationals to take up seasonal employment always requires a bilateral agreement to be concluded between the Federal Employment Agency and the ministry of labour or an appropriate institution in the country of origin on the procedure and selection for seasonal employment (Section 15a subsection 1 of the Employment Regulation). Furthermore, a need-based admission figure, if determined by the Federal Employment Agency in accordance with Section 39 subsection 6 sentence 3, must not yet have been reached (BMI 2017: 48) (Chapter 3).

2.2.2 Alternative possibilities of seasonal work for third-country nationals

In Germany, there are no alternative regulations that allow third-country nationals, even those who have no qualifications, to take up temporary employment as is possible with seasonal work. The initial financial and professional requirements as well as language barriers, for instance are low and easy to meet in seasonal work (SVR 2018: 42).

Holiday employment for foreign students represents an exception to this rule (Section 14 subsection 2 of the Employment Regulation). This section states that students of foreign universities and technical colleges can take on a holiday job in Germany for a period of up to 90 days within a 12-month period during their semester breaks. They must have been placed by the Federal Employment Agency.

2.3 Composition of seasonal workers

Currently, no seasonal workers from third countries are employed in Germany in accordance with the EU Seasonal Workers Directive. The majority of seasonal work is performed by workers from EU Member States; yet, no precise data is available. It is estimated that foreign workers employed in the agricultural sector continue to come from Poland and Romania (GLFA 2019).

⁴ Section 1 subsection 1 sentence 1 of the Act on Temporary Employment Businesses (Arbeitnehmerüberlassungsgesetzes (AÜG)) describes the temporary employment relationship as follows: In the context of their economic activity, employers hire their employees (temporary workers) out to third parties (temporary work agencies) for the performance of work. Employees are hired out to perform work if they are integrated into the work organisation of the temporary work agency and are subject to its instructions (Section 1 subsection 1 sentence 2 of the Act on Temporary Employment Businesses).

However, due to the lack of data and scientific studies available, it is not possible to provide precise information on the composition, countries of origin and working conditions of seasonal workers (GLFA 2019; Späth et al. 2018; Wagner/Hassel 2015: 35).

Differentiated by sector, seasonal work is considered to be of great importance, above all in agriculture (Späth et al. 2018). A non-representative study of seasonal work in agriculture conducted by Garming (2016) shows, for instance, that about every second farm employs seasonal workers (Garming 2016: 15).

The most recent official data currently available on the total number of seasonal workers in agriculture is based on the agricultural structure surveys conducted by Federal Statistical Office in 2016, according to which 286,300 seasonal workers were employed in agricultural enterprises that year (Deutscher Bundestag 2019: 54). In 2016, 124,929 people were employed in vegetable production companies, over 90 percent of whom were seasonal workers, i.e., 113,072. Like vegetable production, fruit production is also characterised by the employment of seasonal workers who accounted for 73 percent of the total number of employees in fruit production (33,086 seasonal workers) (Deutscher Bundestag 2020: 81 f.).

According to the general employers' associations for forestry and agriculture a decline in interest among seasonal workers from EU Member States has been observed above all in the agricultural sector (GLFA 2019). This is mainly attributed to the improvement of wage and working conditions offered by competing employers. In particular, the overall positive economic developments in Poland and Romania as well as the increasing competition for workers in the EU in agriculture and other economic sectors (including the construction industry and tourism) play a role here.

3 Recruitment of seasonal workers

3.1 Placement agreements with third countries

Germany had placement agreements with the former third countries Poland, Romania, Hungary, Slovakia, the Czech Republic, Croatia, Slovenia and Bulgaria for occupations in the hotel and restaurant industry and, from 24 April 2008 onwards, in the areas of agriculture and forestry, fruit and vegetable processing and in sawmills. However, these bilateral placement agreements expired when these countries joined the EU. As it was still possible to meet the bulk of the demand of seasonal workers in Germany from these countries, no placement agreements with third countries were concluded initially. Since the end of 2018, the Federal Employment Agency has been authorised to conclude agreements on the recruitment of seasonal workers from third countries on behalf of the Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs and the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture. A placement agreement was then concluded with Georgia in early 2020. However, the placement of seasonal workers in agriculture, which was planned as a pilot project from May 2020, was postponed due to the outbreak of COVID-19 and the entry restrictions associated with the pandemic. The Federal Employment Agency is still seeking to initiate bilateral placement agreements with other third countries such as Bosnia-Herzegovina, Albania, Moldova and North Macedonia (Offer/Mävers/Mävers 2016; response of the Federal Employment Agency). According to the Federal Employment Agency, bilateral talks with third countries are difficult due to the current circumstances surrounding COVID-19 and the current entry restrictions, but the discussions will continue (response of the Federal Employment Agency).

Statutory bases and regulations governing placement agreements

The placement agreements are based on the EU Seasonal Workers Directive in combination with Section 15a subsection 1 sentence 1 no. 1 of the Employment Regulation. Furthermore, all relevant German laws and regulations apply to the performance of work. The placement agreements are bilateral agreements that are negotiated and concluded individually between the Federal Republic of Germany and the potential third country. They include, inter alia, rules on general prin-

ciples such as the prohibition of discrimination, rules on sectoral restrictions on employment, maximum duration of employment, procedural processes involved in placement and employment conditions. The contracting parties to the agreement are the Federal Employment Agency on behalf of the Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs and the Ministry of Labour or appropriate institutions in the third country authorised to conclude such state agreements.

General principles

First of all, the general principle of equality applies (Article 3 paragraph 1 of the Basic Law (Grundgesetz)): what is the same must not be treated substantially unequally, what is unequal must not be treated substantially equally. Furthermore, men and women have equal rights (Article 3 paragraph 2 of the Basic Law) and no person shall be favoured or disfavoured because of sex, parentage, race⁵, language, homeland and origin, faith or religious or political opinions and no person shall be disfavoured because of disability (Article 3 paragraph 3 of the Basic Law). In addition, the General Equal Treatment Act (Allgemeine Gleichbehandlungsgesetz), which aims to prevent or eliminate discrimination on the grounds of race or ethnic origin, gender, religion or belief, disability, age or sexual identity, is taken into account.

According to the general principle of equality and the General Equal Treatment Act, it is inadmissible that the workers employed in the Federal Republic of Germany are employed under less favourable conditions than comparable domestic or equivalent employees (response of the Federal Employment Agency). Therefore, all relevant German laws and regulations apply.

⁵ The German Institute for Human Rights, among others, has published two papers on the problem associated with. In these, they argue against the use of the term 'race' in legal texts. They argue that the term 'race' is historically fraught and that its use promotes "racist thinking [...], since it suggests that there are different human 'races'" (Cremer 2009). For criticism of the term and the alternative proposal to replace the term with 'racist', see also the Federal Anti-Discrimination Agency (2015).

Process of placement

The International Placement Service of the Federal Employment Agency and the partner administrations, which are public authorities, are responsible for the process of placement. In Georgia, the labour ministry is responsible for recruitment and selection of seasonal workers (response of the Federal Employment Agency). In the placement agreements the number of seasonal workers is limited to a certain number based on common agreements on the supply and demand of seasonal workers. Neither the Georgian labour ministry nor the Federal Employment Agency is permitted to charge fees for their services with regard to the selection and placement (response of the Federal Employment Agency). It is also determined in which cases a change of employer is possible: for example, it was agreed with Georgia in which exceptional circumstances a change of employer is possible (response of the Federal Employment Agency).

3.1.1 Sectoral and temporal employment restrictions

Sectoral employment restrictions

The recruitment of seasonal workers from third countries is limited to certain sectors. According to the current legal regulations, approval may be granted for seasonal employment in agriculture and forestry, horticulture, hotels and restaurants, fruit and vegetable processing and sawmills (Section 15a subsection 1 of the Employment Regulation). The placement agreement with Georgia is limited to the agricultural sector. The decision to restrict the recruitment of harvest workers is based on the needs of the Federal Republic of Germany on the one hand, but also on the needs and situation in the country of origin on the other (response of the Federal Employment Agency). The regulations are intended to take into account the interests of German employers and at the same time prevent a long-term brain drain for the "partner countries" (SVR 2018: 30).

Time restriction

The employment of seasonal workers in the abovementioned sectors is, in many respects, subject to time restrictions. On the one hand, the seasonal employment of a foreigner may not exceed six months within a 12-month period. It is not permitted to combine different temporary jobs as a low-skilled worker in order to achieve a continuous stay in Germany. However, it is not ruled out that a seasonal worker may perform the same type of work during several periods of a calendar year, as long as only the maximum time limits of the regulation are complied with.

Furthermore, the period of employment of seasonal workers for one farm is limited to eight months within a 12-month period (Section 15a subsection 1 sentence 6 of the Employment Regulation). It is therefore possible, for instance, to employ seasonal workers as harvest workers for a period of four months in spring initially and then for a further period of up to four months in autumn. This time restriction is intended to prevent permanent jobs from being converted into temporary jobs by employing several seasonal workers from third countries to the detriment of national job applicants. The time restriction does not apply to fruit, vegetable, wine, hop and tobacco growing enterprises. (Section 15a subsection 1 sentence 7 of the Employment Regulation).

Moreover, foreign nationals who have been employed in the federal territory as seasonal workers at least once in the last five years are to be given preferential consideration within the scope of the number of work permits and approvals issued by the Federal Employment Agency (Section 15a subsection 1 sentence 5 of the Employment Regulation).

On the other hand, it is stipulated that seasonal workers must be employed for a regular working week of at least 30 hours (Section 15a subsection 1 sentence 1 of the Employment Regulation).⁶ In addition, the working hours are limited in accordance with the Working Hours Act (Arbeitszeitgesetz): it states that workers must not work more than 10 hours a day and that breaks and a rest period of 11 hours must be observed (Sections 3f. of the Working Hours Act).

3.1.2 Working conditions

If the seasonal workers are employed in Germany, all relevant German laws and regulations apply to the performance of the work. The seasonal workers employed in the Federal Republic of Germany may not be employed under less favourable conditions than comparable domestic workers or equivalent employees (response of the Federal Employment Agency). For instance, there are no special regulations for seasonal workers from third countries with regard to German social insurance law.

⁶ In addition, the Working Hours Act (Arbeitszeitgesetz) applies.

Regulations on the obligation to pay social security contributions

Seasonal workers from third countries who are employed in Germany are generally subject to compulsory social insurance. The social insurance consists of health insurance, nursing care insurance, accident insurance, pension insurance and unemployment insurance. With the exception of accident insurance, however, there is no obligation to pay social insurance if the employment is short-term. This is the case when the activity is limited to a maximum of three months or 70 working days within a year, depending on the nature of the work, or is contractually limited in advance (Section 8 subsection 1 no. 2 of the Social Code Book IV (Sozialgesetzbuch IV)). If the salary exceeds € 450 per month, for short-term employment, it still applies that this employment does not constitute regular employment, but rather employment as a student, for example (Section 8 subsection 1 no. 2 of the Social Code Book IV). Marginal employment within the meaning of Section 8 of the Social Code Book IV is exempt from statutory health, nursing care and unemployment insurance (Section 7 of the Social Code Book V; Section 27 subsection 2 of the Social Code Book III). Persons in short-term employment, but not in lowpaid employment, are exempt from statutory pension insurance within the meaning of Section 8 subsection 1 no. 2 of the Social Code Book IV ("temporary employment"). One exception applies to the statutory accident insurance: according to this, seasonal workers employed for a short period are also insured against accidents by law, whereby the employer pays the accident insurance contribution.

Entitlements under pension and unemployment insurance

However, some restrictions apply. There are some social security benefits, which seasonal workers cannot claim as they are not permitted to work for more than six months in a calendar year, for instance, because they cannot accumulate sufficient entitlements. In some cases, for instance, German social security law requires the completion of a certain waiting period, i.e., a certain minimum insurance period for an entitlement to benefits. For instance, the waiting period for entitlement to an old-age pension is at least five years (Section 50 subsection 1 sentence 1 of the Social Code Book VI). Employees who have not completed this qualifying period in the pension insurance scheme, including through repeated seasonal work, can request that their employee contributions to the pension insurance scheme be reimbursed by the pension insurance fund after a period of 24 calendar months has

elapsed, provided that they do not have the right to voluntary insurance and that any applicable intergovernmental social security contributions do not preclude any such reimbursement. Entitlement to unemployment benefit also requires a certain minimum period of insurance in the unemployment insurance scheme. This qualifying period is 12 months within a framework period of 24 calendar months (Section 142 of the Social Code Book III).

In principle, social security contributions cannot be transferred to the country of origin unless social security agreements have been concluded between Germany and the country of origin. Such agreements only exist with few third countries such as Albania, Bosnia-Herzegovina and China. According to the Federal Employment Agency, no such agreements exist with Georgia.

Requirement to furnish proof of adequate health insurance cover

For seasonal workers from EU Member States there is no obligation on the employer to cover the costs of sufficient health insurance cover in Germany if they are employed on a short-term basis. In these cases, the profession recommends that employers take out a private group insurance policy, which, according to the Federal Employment Agency, they usually do (response of the Federal Employment Agency). For seasonal workers from third countries, however, proof of adequate health insurance cover is mandatory. According to the Federal Employment Agency, the employer must cover the costs of sufficient health insurance coverage in Germany.

If employees are prevented from performing their work through no fault of their own as a result of incapacity to work due to illness, they are entitled to continued payment of their wages and salaries by their employer in the event of illness for the duration of the incapacity to work, up to a maximum of six weeks (Section 3 of the Continued Remuneration Act (Entgeltfortzahlungsgesetz)). However, the entitlement is only acquired if the employment relationship has existed continuously for more than four weeks.

Adequate accommodation

The employer is obliged to offer suitable accommodation to the employees placed and employed in the Federal Republic of Germany or to ensure they have accommodation for the duration of their employment (response of the Federal Employment Agency). Under German law, the accommodation must meet the rel-

evant requirements of the Workplace Ordinance (Arbeitsstättenverordnung) and the published Technical Rules for Health and Safety at Work. Among other things, these regulations specify the minimum size of accommodation (BAUA 2010). Land regulations such as "the Building regulations of the Länder for the prevention of threats to public safety and order and for the prevention of abuses" are not affected (ASR 2010: 2).

In any case, according to the Federal Employment Agency, full transparency must be ensured with regard to the associated costs and their assumption (response of the Federal Employment Agency). The costs of accommodation must be reasonable, seasonal workers must be advised of the costs in advance and they must be "reasonable in terms of type, nature and price" (BA 2011: 1). Thus, the seasonal workers must know in advance whether they have to bear the accommodation costs themselves or whether the employer has to cover them.

The employer can either provide a rental agreement himself or offer accommodation through a third party. If the employer provides the accommodation, the employer and the seasonal worker conclude a rental agreement (response of the Federal Employment Agency). Accommodation costs must be specified in the rental agreement and may not be deducted from the wages (Section 15a subsection 2 sentence 2 and sentence 3 of the Employment Regulation).

The employer must also notify the Federal Employment Agency immediately of any change in accommodation for seasonal workers (Section 15a subsection 2 sentence 4 of the Employment Regulation).

Pay based on the minimum wage

The minimum wage for seasonal workers is € 9.35 gross per hour (BMAS n.d.; as at: June 2020). It is, however, possible to include meals and accommodation as part of the minimum wage if they are provided by the employer (Brinkmann 2017: 6), which may result in seasonal workers being paid less than the minimum wage. According to Section 107 subsection 2 of the German Trade Regulation Act (Gewerbeordnung), an agreement must be concluded between the employer and the employee, which must be recorded in the employment contract (Zoll n.d.).

The deduction must be in line with the interests of the employee or the nature of the employment relationship.

- In all cases, the deduction of benefits-in-kind may not exceed the amount of the attachable portion of wages (Section 107 subsection 2 sentence 5 of the German Trade Regulation Act in conjunction with Section 394 of the German Civil Code (Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch), attachment exemption limit).
- Any benefits-in-kind granted by the employer must be of "medium nature and quality", i.e. board and lodging must be of good quality. The Guidelines for the Accommodation of Foreign Employees in the Federal Republic of Germany of 29 March 1971 (Richtlinien für die Unterkünfte ausländischer Arbeitnehmerinnen bzw. -nehmer in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland) can be used as a benchmark for the assessment.

Holiday entitlement

Seasonal workers from third countries also have holiday entitlements under the Federal Paid Leave Act (Bundesurlaubsgesetz). However, workers are only entitled to full leave after six months of employment (Section 4 of the Federal Leave Act). This entitlement is therefore not acquired, for example, if the seasonal worker is employed on a short-term basis. However, this does not mean that seasonal workers are not entitled to any paid leave in these cases. Section 5 of the Federal Paid Leave Act applies, according to which employees are entitled to one-twelfth of the annual leave for each full month that the employment relationship exists, if they leave the employment relationship before the waiting period has been fulfilled (Section 5 subsection 1c of the Federal Paid Leave Act). As the statutory holiday entitlement for a five-day week is around 20 days and workers are entitled to onetwelfth of the annual leave for each month in which the employment relationship exists, this means that seasonal workers are entitled to two days' paid leave for each month of seasonal work completed.

Restriction for third country nationals with regard to free movement of family members and child benefit

Seasonal workers from third countries may not come with their family members to Germany. Since the ruling handed down by the European Court of Justice (ECJ) on 12 June 2012, seasonal workers from EU Member States are entitled to child benefit in Germany, even if their children continue to live in their country of origin. However, the situation is different for seasonal workers from third countries who are not entitled to child benefit because their employment contract is limited in time. The reason why they are

not entitled to child benefit is the fact that they are staying in Germany temporarily (Kindergeld.org n. d.).

Income tax

The wages of foreign seasonal workers paid for work performed in Germany is generally subject to taxation and must be taxed in Germany, unless it is below the basic tax-free allowance of € 9,408 per year (as of 2020). Taxation is regularly carried out by deducting tax from an individual's wages according to the employee's personal taxation status.

Seasonal workers in agriculture and forestry are eligible for a favourable flat-rate income tax of five percent (Section 40a subsection 3 of the Income Tax Act (Einkommenssteuergesetz). However, the flat-rate tax is only permissible where the temporary worker

- is employed on an agricultural and forestry holding, is engaged exclusively in typical agricultural and forestry work, and
- does not work more than 180 days per calendar year for the employer,
- is not a skilled agricultural or forestry worker,
- only performs work that does not occur all year round, and
- is paid an hourly rate that does not exceed € 15 (up to 2019: € 12).

Under certain conditions, temporary and part-time employees outside of agriculture and forestry may be subject to flat-rate income tax at 25 percent, 20 percent or two percent. The flat-rate tax is regularly borne by the employer, though it can be passed on to the employees.

3.2 Recent developments associated with COVID-19

Due to the rapid spread of COVID-19, entry restrictions for foreign seasonal workers were introduced on 25 March 2020 (Deutscher Bundestag 2020: 46). Against this backdrop and by joint agreement, the placement of seasonal workers from Georgia and other bilateral talks with third countries were also postponed.

Alternative measures to ease restrictions under labour law were introduced to attract additional domestic workers particularly in view of the expected decline in the number of seasonal workers from EU countries available in the agricultural sector. For instance, the Federal Government's social protection package of 27 March 2020 significantly extended the time limits for short-term employment (BMAS 2020b): short-term employment is defined as employment that is limited to a maximum of three months or 70 working days within a 12-month period and is not performed professionally. These time limits have been raised to five months or 115 working days until 31 October 2020.

Furthermore, the maximum working hours have been extended and the minimum rest periods reduced until 31 June 2020 (COVID-19 Working Hours Ordinance (COVID-19-Arbeitszeitverordnung)): workers are now permitted to work up to 60 hours per week and up to 12 hours per day without special approval. The rest periods have been reduced to nine hours a day. In exceptional cases, workers are allowed to work 12 hours per day, six days per week.

In addition, the headquarters of the Federal Employment Agency issued global approval on 2 April 2020 in order to counteract the short-term labour shortage in the agricultural sector, especially in the fruit and vegetable production sector: it has issued general approval for seasonal work for certain groups staying in Germany if they are employed as agricultural labourers in the period between 1 April 2020 and 31 October 2020 at the latest.

These are:

- Asylum seekers at a reception centre where the asylum procedure has not been incontestably concluded within nine months,
- Asylum seekers residing lawfully in the Federal Republic for the past three months,
- Persons with a tolerated status,
- Third country nationals whose residence title does not permit this employment.

In addition, third-country nationals who are pursuing or have pursued an occupation in agriculture which is deemed to be non-employment under Section 30 of the Employment Regulation and who are still visa-free in Germany at the time may continue this employment beyond the 90-day period or take up employment with another employer. The rule also applies to another group, namely persons from third countries who are currently unemployed owing to the closure of hotels and restaurants. These individuals are permitted to take up employment in the agricultural sector without having to apply to the Federal Employment Agency for approval until the end of October 2020 (BMEL 2020b).

Despite the fact that additional domestic workers had been recruited and that approx. 20,000 seasonal workers had entered the country before the entry ban was imposed, it was foreseeable that they would not be able to meet the demand for an estimated 100,000 additional workers in the agricultural sector in the months of April and May 2020 (BMI/BMEL 2020). Against this backdrop, the Federal Ministry of the Interior and the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture finally agreed on an exemption clause, which allows the restricted entry of seasonal workers from third countries subject to strict conditions, above all to mitigate the risk of infection (BMI 2020). The concept paper presented by the Federal Ministry of the Interior and the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture entitled 'Health and Safety of Seasonal Workers [Coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2)]' (Saisonarbeiter im Hinblick auf den Gesundheitsschutz [Coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2)]), defines measures on entering and leaving the country, aimed at ensuring health and safety at work and in the accommodation provided in order to safeguard the harvest on the one hand and to minimise the risk of infection on the other, taking the recommendations issued by Robert Koch Institut into account (BMI/BMEL 2020).

According to this, 40,000 seasonal workers per month were to be allowed to enter the country in April and May 2020, selected on the basis of feedback from the profession and demonstrating adherence to strict hygiene standards. As this figure had not been reached by the end of May 2020, the regulations were initially extended until 15 June 2020 (BMEL 2020c).

In order to avoid lengthy travel, seasonal workers were initially only allowed to enter and leave the country in groups by air and had to be picked up by their employer from certain airports. In addition, the employer had to ensure they underwent health checks carried out by medical staff according to a standardised procedure. The following measures, among others, had to be considered with regard to employment and accommodation: seasonal workers were initially to be kept in quarantine for two weeks, accommodated and employed separately from other employees, while they were also not allowed to leave the company premises. After quarantine, the work was also to be performed in the same groups of workers which were to be kept as small as possible. Furthermore, they were required to keep a minimum distance or wear face masks, for instance. Strict hygiene regulations were also to be applied to the accommodation and the rooms were to be occupied at a maximum of half capacity (with the exception of families). If an infection with the coronavirus was suspected, the worker and the whole team

needed to be isolated and undergo testing for the virus

With the removal of entry restrictions and taking into account the development of the pandemic, a new approach was put forward, which will apply from 16 June 2020 until the end of 2020 (BMEL 2020d), maintaining the quota of a total of 80,000 seasonal workers from third countries. 38,967 seasonal workers had entered the country by 3 June 2020 (BMEL 2020d: 1). Since 16 June 2020, they have again been able to enter the country both by land and by air.

For the implementation and further development of the occupational health and safety standards in relation to COVID-19, the Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs set up a 'Coronavirus Occupational Health and Safety Taskforce' (BMAS 2020d). Employers are required to "safeguard occupational health and safety in the enterprises and provide accommodation in accordance with the occupational health and safety regulations specified by the Social Insurance for Agriculture, Forestry and Horticulture (Sozialversicherung Landwirtschaft, Forsten und Gartenbau) under the SARS-CoV-2 occupational health and safety standard" (BMEL 2020d: 2).

On-site monitoring of compliance with the rules and working conditions is to be carried out by the responsible health and safety authorities (BMI/BMEL 2020). The responsibility for monitoring health and safety at work and the accommodation and hygiene situation is incumbent upon the Länder.

Due to the coronavirus pandemic, the difficult working conditions of seasonal workers in agriculture have moved into the public and political spotlight, not just in terms of protection against infection, but also in terms of generally poor working conditions. It has been reported, for instance, that some enterprises are not complying with infection control measures (Chapter 5.2).

Working conditions and measures to safeguard the rights of seasonal workers

4.1 Monitoring of employment conditions and protection of the rights of seasonal workers

Regulations have been issued to monitor the terms and conditions of employment and to protect the rights of seasonal workers (response of the Federal Employment Agency). Under the provisions of the Act Regulating a General Minimum Wage, for instance, employers are obliged to record the beginning, end and duration of daily working hours. The provision of adequate accommodation by the enterprise and the wording of employment contracts in the respective national language, inter alia, are monitored.

Monitoring of compliance with conditions of employment by the authorities

Monitoring of compliance with the terms and conditions of employment is carried out by various institutions. The central authority is Customs and, within Customs, the Financial Investigation Office for Clandestine Employment (Finanzkontrolle Schwarzarbeit), which is responsible for combating illegal employment in Germany. Among other things, it checks compliance with the minimum employment standards laid down in the Posted Workers Act (Arbeitnehmerentsendegesetz) and the Act Regulating a General Minimum Wage. The Financial Investigation Office for Clandestine Employment checks whether a case of illegal employment of foreigners exists (Tangermann/Grote 2017). This may "involve third-country nationals residing unlawfully or exist if third-country nationals residing in a regular manner disregard the requirements they are obliged to meet. Furthermore, employment of lawfully residing third-country nationals may be illegal if the employment is not reported in a bid to avoid paying tax or social security contributions" (Tangermann/Grote 2017: 56).

In order to check the terms and conditions of employment and to detect potential violations by the employer or employee, the Financial Investigation Office for Clandestine Employment carries out random checks in enterprises and acts as a point of contact for affected parties. In doing so, it has extensive powers ranging from the right to inspect the employer's or client's premises and to check business documents through to questioning employees. In some cases, inspections are carried out jointly with other authorities, for instance inspections can be carried out with the tax authorities as part of tax investigations. Audits by the Financial Investigation Office for Clandestine Employment can also be carried out together with the competent foreigners authority if there is reason to believe that violations of the Residence Act are likely to occur (Tangermann/Grote 2017: 36).

In addition to the Financial Investigation Office for Clandestine Employment, pension insurance institutions also check compliance with the minimum wage for seasonal workers as part of company audits. According to the Act Regulating a General Minimum Wage, employers are obliged to include records of work performance in their pay records. If no such documentation is available, the pension insurance institution will demand the unpaid contributions.

Sanctioning of employers and employees in the event of an infringement

Both employers and employees who are employed without a relevant residence permit or without authorisation to work can be prosecuted under criminal and administrative law. The sanctions for employers who, for instance, employ third-country nationals illegally range from fines, exclusion from public contracts and subsidies to imprisonment. In the case of unpaid social security contributions, the social security institutions demand the unpaid contributions. The consequences for the seasonal workers can include fines, prison sentences, a reduction in the length of stay or even expulsion and removal (Tangermann/Grote 2017: 56).

Reports from associations, trade unions and NGOs

In addition to state controls, civil society is taking measures to protect seasonal workers' rights. One of these is the 'Initiative Faire Landarbeit', an association of trade unions and NGOs that deals with seasonal work in the agricultural sector, which includes the advice centres of the German Trade Union Confederation (Deutscher Gewerkschaftsbund), the European Migrant Workers Union (Europäischer Verein für Wanderarbeiterfragen e.V.) and the Industrial Union for Building, Agriculture and the Environment. During regular field visits, the initiative informs and advises seasonal workers in the agricultural sector of their rights and provides support in the event of labour law difficulties (Initiative Faire Landarbeit 2020: 2). In annual reports, the initiative points out grievances and formulates recommendations for action.

Possibilities of legal action by the employees concerned

Possible disputes between employers and employees are settled by the existing competent structures and in accordance with the applicable German legislation (response of the Federal Employment Agency). In principle, there is the right to take action to the Labour Court, for instance, for pay not received for work already performed. Trade union contact and advice centres in several cities in Germany offer representation of interests and legal advice. "Often, an out-of-court settlement with the employer is sought in order to avoid lengthy court proceedings" (Tangermann/Grote 2017: 56).

4.2 Working conditions for seasonal workers

Seasonal work in Germany represents a regular source of income for many foreign seasonal workers and can therefore contribute to improving their individual social situation. In addition, seasonal work can tap development potential, since remittances are usually sent back to the country of origin (Schneider/Parusel 2011: 27 f., 45). On the other hand, experts point out that temporary migration, as is the case with seasonal work, tends to restrict "opportunities for professional, family and personal development" (SVR 2018: 42).

The agricultural sector in particular is dependent on the employment of foreign seasonal workers. Many

companies make use of their right to re-employ workers they had already employed the previous year (Schneider/Parusel 2011: 31). This gives seasonal workers a certain degree of planning security and enables farmers to recruit experienced workers for the farm. However, in order to keep up with the increasing competition for workers, the wage and working conditions they offer are sometimes crucial. Adherence to the minimum wage and, at the same time, potential deductions for accommodation provided pose a particular challenge. In addition, the obligation to have social insurance, unless it involves short-term employment, poses a challenge, as there are usually no corresponding regulations or opportunities for seasonal workers to take the German contributions with them to the third countries (response of the Federal Employment Agency). If no social security agreements have been concluded with the country of origin for instance, any contributions made to unemployment benefit are forfeited and the employee is unable to benefit from the insurance (Chapter 3.2.3).

It is not possible to make any generalisations about the working conditions of previous seasonal workers on the basis of existing studies and reports. Nevertheless, there is evidence to suggest that seasonal workers face precarious working conditions in spite of the existing regulations, controls and complaint options (Burger/Martens/Steppat 2020). The German Institute for Human Rights (Deutsches Institut für Menschenrechte) for instance reported cases involving the exploitation of foreign workers, inter alia in the agricultural sector (Rabe/Brandt 2015). In its 2019 annual report, the 'Initiative Faire Landarbeit' pointed out that, according to its own research, "wage scams, non-transparent, incorrect or a complete lack of payslips and working time records as well as piecework records, a lack of protective clothing and sun protection, dubious deductions for work materials, increased deductions for board and lodging, poor food and accommodation, excessive working hours and a lack of rest days" have been detected time and again (Edelhoff/Ghassim/ Hurst 2020).

Furthermore, the 'Initiative Faire Landarbeit' criticises the employment of trainees who are being used as regular workers: according to its own research, it says that since the visa requirement was abolished for Ukrainian nationals in 2017, an increasing number of Ukrainian students have been employed as trainees in the agricultural sector.⁷ According to the organisations in the enterprises where spot checks have been carried

⁷ Results of the information campaigns for seasonal workers from third countries in the fields in Brandenburg.

out, it has been observed that the employment often does not involve traineeships related to students' specific field of study, as required under Section 15 no. 6 of the Employment Regulation, but that in practice the work tasks are often no different from those of other harvest workers who have regular employment contracts (Initiative Faire Landarbeit 2020: 18). Moreover, the students were unaware of the possibilities for complaints and legal action.

The situation of seasonal workers in general came increasingly into the public spotlight when COVID-19 began to spread and work regulations were amended accordingly. It was reported on several occasions that some enterprises were not complying with the infection protection measures imposed by the Federal Ministry of the Interior and the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture. For instance, cases became known in which enterprises were not observing hygiene regulations or minimum distances during transport to the field and seasonal workers were being accommodated in multi-bed rooms which were full to capacity (Edelhoff/Ghassim/Hurst 2020). The limited space and lack of hygiene also indicate that these enterprises were willing to accept the risk of infection (Initiative Faire Landarbeit 2020). The 'Initiative Faire Landarbeit' also warned that easing labour law restrictions such as extending the time limits for short-term employment (Chapter 3.3) could lead to a "leveraging of labour rights in agriculture" and that health insurance cover was not available for all harvest workers (Initiative Faire Landarbeit 2020: 3). At the Conference of Agriculture Ministers, the Federal Minister of Food and Agriculture, Julia Klöckner appealed to the Länder to comply with the requirements for the entry of foreign seasonal workers (BMEL 2020d).

26 Conclusion

5 Conclusion

Germany has transposed the EU Seasonal Workers Directive. Yet, currently, no seasonal workers from third countries are employed in Germany in accordance with the Directive. This is due to the fact that in the past, it was possible to meet the demand for seasonal workers with persons from the EU Member States. Against this backdrop, no placement agreements have been concluded with third countries since agreements with the former EU accession candidates expired. In 2020, bilateral placement agreements were concluded with Georgia - limited to the agricultural sector. The launch of the pilot project planned for May 2020 had to be postponed due to the outbreak of COVID-19, which explains why no seasonal workers from Georgia are currently being placed.

The bilateral cooperation agreement between the Federal Employment Agency and the labour administration of third countries is based on the EU Seasonal Workers Directive, which is intended to ensure that all aspects of the placement agreement comply with the protection of the rights of seasonal workers. The workers employed in the Federal Republic of Germany may not, as a matter of principle, be employed under less favourable conditions than comparable German workers or equivalent employees. This means, for instance, that the minimum wage and statutory working hours also apply to them.

Although the demand for seasonal workers has so far been met mainly by EU nationals, the employers' associations as well as the Federal Employment Agency (Bundesagentur für Arbeit) reported a decline in the interest of EU nationals in seasonal work in Germany in recent years - especially in the agricultural sector. Therefore, an increasing demand for more seasonal workers from third countries in the future is assumed. Furthermore, a fundamental improvement in working conditions in the seasonal sector is conducive to ensuring Germany remains competitive for seasonal workers in pan-European labour markets. Challenges in connection with the creditability or portability of social security contributions to the countries of origin of seasonal workers also need to be addressed.

Bibliography

- Antidiskriminierungsstelle des Bundes (2015): Begriff "Rasse" durch "rassistisch" ersetzen Antidiskriminierungsstelle für Änderung von Verfassungstexten. Online: http://www.antidiskriminierungsstelle.de/SharedDocs/Aktuelles/DE/_Archiv/2015/verfassung-grundgesetz-20150309.html (12.06.2020).
- BAMF Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge (2016): Migrationsbericht 2014, Nürnberg: BAMF.
- BAuA Bundesanstalt für Arbeitsschutz und Arbeitsmedizin (2010): Technische Regeln für Arbeitsstätten (ASR). ASR A4.4. Unterkünfte. Online: https://www.baua.de/DE/Angebote/Rechtstexte-und-Technische-Regeln/Regelwerk/ASR/ASR-A4-4.html (12.06.2020).
- **BMAS Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales** (2020a): Evaluierung der Westbalkanregelung: Registerdatenanalyse und Betriebsfallstudien. Forschungsbericht 544, Nürnberg: Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung.
- **BMAS Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales** (2020b): Das Sozialschutz-Paket. Online: https://www.bmas.de/DE/Schwerpunkte/Informationen-Corona/Sozialschutz-Paket/sozialschutz-paket.html (12.06.2020).
- BMAS Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales (2020c): Der neue "Corona-Arbeitsschutzstab" beim BMAS nimmt seine Arbeit auf. Meldung vom 23. April 2020. Online: https://www.bmas.de/DE/Presse/Meldungen/2020/corona-arbeitsschutzstab-nimmt-seine-arbeit-auf.html (12.06.2020).
- **BMAS Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales** (n. d.): Allgemeiner gesetzlicher Mindestlohn.

 Online: https://www.bmas.de/DE/Themen/Arbeitsrecht/Mindestlohn/mindestlohn.html (12.06.2020).
- **BMEL Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft** (2020a): Beschäftigung und Mindestlohn. Online: https://www.bmel.de/DE/themen/landwirtschaft/agrarsozialpolitik/saisonarbeitskraefte-landwirtschaft.html (12.06.2020).
- **BMEL Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft** (2020b): Einsatz von Drittstaatsangehörigen und Asylbewerbern als Erntehelfer. Pressemitteilung Nr. 70 vom 22.04.2020. Online: https://www.bmel.de/SharedDocs/Pressemitteilungen/DE/2020/070-drittstaatsangehoerige-asylbewerber-ernte.html (12.06.2020).
- BMEL Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft (2020c): Begrenzte Einreise von Saisonarbeitskräften unter strengen Auflagen bis 15. Juni verlängert. Pressemitteilung Nr. 88/2020 vom 24. Mai 2020. Online: https://www.bmel.de/SharedDocs/Pressemitteilungen/DE/2020/088-saisonarbeitskraefte.html (22.07.2020).
- **BMEL Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft** (2020d): Neuregelung für Saisonarbeitskräfte schafft Planungssicherheit für die Landwirte. Pressemitteilung Nr.94/2020 vom 10. Juni 2020. Online: https://www.bmel.de/SharedDocs/Pressemitteilungen/DE/2020/094-saisonarbeitskraefte.html (22.07.2020).
- **BMEL Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft** (2020e): Akzeptanz für Regelung zur Einreise ausländischer Saisonarbeitskräfte erhalten. Pressemitteilung Nr. 81/2020 vom 08. Mai 2020. Online: https://www.bmel.de/SharedDocs/Pressemitteilungen/DE/2020/081-agrarministerkonferenz-2020-saarbruecken.html (12.06.2020).
- BMI Bundesministerium des Innern (2017): Anwendungshinweise des Bundesministeriums des Innern zu Gesetz und Verordnung zur Umsetzung aufenthaltsrechtlicher Richtlinien der Europäischen Union zur Arbeitsmigration. Online: https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/DE/veroeffentlichungen/2017/arbeitshinweise-umsetzung-aufenhaltsrechtliche-richtlinien-zur-arbeitsmigration.pdf?_blob=publicationFile&v=1 (12.06.2020).

BMI – Bundesministerium des Innern, für Bau und Heimat (2020): Klöckner/Seehofer: "Vorgaben des Gesundheitsschutzes und Erntesicherung bringen wir zusammen", Pressemitteilung vom 02.04.2020. Online: https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/pressemitteilungen/DE/2020/04/erntehelfer.html (12.06.2020).

- BMI/BMEL Bundesministerium des Innern, für Bau und Heimat/Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft (2020): Konzeptpapier Saisonarbeiter im Hinblick auf den Gesundheitsschutz (Coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2). Online: https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/DE/veroeffentlichungen/2020/corona/konzeptpapier-saisonarbeiter.pdf;jsessionid=6A790A46F27ACA5A7BDDD00FBE302528.1_cid373?__blob=publicationFile&v=7 (12.06.2020).
- BMI/BAMF Bundesministerium des Innern, für Bau und Heimat/Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge (2013): Migrationsbericht des Bundesamtes für Migration und Flüchtlinge im Auftrag der Bundesregierung. Migrationsbericht 2011, Berlin/Nürnberg: BMI/BAMF.
- **Brinkmann, Gisbert** (2017): Umsetzung der Richtlinien zu Saisonarbeitnehmern und zu ICTs. Online: https://www.akademie-rs.de/fileadmin/user_upload/download_archive/migration/20170127_brinkmann_icts.pdf (12.06.2020).
- BA Bundesagentur für Arbeit (2011): Merkblatt der Bundesagentur für Arbeit für Arbeitgeber zur Vermittlung und Beschäftigung ausländischer Saisonarbeitnehmer und Schaustellergehilfen. Online:

 https://www.arbeitsagentur.de/datei/merkblatt-7-auslaendischean_ba015382.pdf (22.07.2020).
- **BA Bundesagentur für Arbeit** (2017): Beschäftigung ausländischer Arbeitnehmerinnen und Arbeitnehmer in Deutschland, Merkblatt 7 (Stand: August 2017). Online: https://www.arbeitsagentur.de/datei/merkblatt-7-auslaendischean_ba015382.pdf (12.06.2020).
- **Bundesrat** (2017): Gesetzentwurf der Bundesregierung. Entwurf eines Gesetzes zur Umsetzung aufenthaltsrechtlicher Richtlinien der Europäischen Union zur Arbeitsmigration. Drucksache 9/17, Berlin: Bundesrat.
- **Burger, Reiner/Martens, Michael/Steppat, Timo** (2020): Harte Arbeit trotz Corona. In: FAZ Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung vom 30.05.2020. Online: https://www.faz.net/aktuell/politik/inland/unter-dem-mindestlohn-harte-arbeit-trotz-corona-16792082.html (12.06.2020).
- **Cremer, Hendrik** (2009): "... und welcher Rasse gehören Sie an?" Zur Problematik des Begriffs "Rasse" in der Gesetzgebung. Policy Paper, Berlin: Deutsches Institut für Menschenrechte.
- **Deutscher Bundestag** (2015): Einführung und Umsetzung des Mindestlohns. Antwort der Bundesregierung auf die Kleine Anfrage der Abgeordneten Klaus Ernst, Susanna Karawanskij, Jutta Krellmann, weiterer Abgeordneter und der Fraktion DIE LINKE. Drucksache 18/3824, Berlin: Deutscher Bundestag.
- **Deutscher Bundestag** (2017): Redebeitrag der Abgeordneten Andrea Lindholz (CDU/CSU) zur Beratung des von der Bundesregierung eingebrachten Entwurfs eines Gesetzes zur Umsetzung aufenthaltsrechtlicher Richtlinien der Europäischen Union zur Arbeitsmigration. Plenarprotokoll 18/221, Berlin: Deutscher Bundestag.
- **Deutscher Bundestag** (2019): Unterrichtung durch die Bundesregierung. Agrarpolitischer Bericht der Bundesregierung 2019. Drucksache 19/14500, Berlin: Deutscher Bundestag.
- **Deutscher Bundestag** (2020): Schriftliche Fragen mit den in der Woche vom 13. April 2020 eingegangenen Antworten der Bundesregierung. Drucksache 19/18555, Berlin: Deutscher Bundestag.
- **Edelhoff, Johannes/Ghassim, Armin/Hurst, Fabienne** (2020): Erntehelfer in Deutschland. Lücken beim Corona-Schutz. In: Tagesschau.de vom 23.04.2020. Online: https://www.tagesschau.de/investigativ/panorama/corona-erntehelfer-103.html (12.06.2020).

Fuchs, Johann/Kubis, Alexander/Schneider, Lutz (2017): Langfristiges Erwerbspersonenpotenzial und Zuwanderungspotenziale. Regionale Implikationen, in: BBSR – Bundesinstitut für Bau-, Stadt- und Raumforschung (Hrsg.): Regionale Implikationen der Zuwanderung aus dem Ausland in Deutschland. Dezembertagung der DGD-Arbeitskreise "Städte und Regionen" und "Migration, Integration, Minderheiten" der DGD in Kooperation mit dem BBSR am 3. und 4. Dezember 2015 in Berlin, Bonn, 77–89.

- **Garming, Hildegard** (2016): Auswirkungen des Mindestlohns in Landwirtschaft und Gartenbau: Erfahrungen aus dem ersten Jahr und Ausblick, Thünen Working Paper 53, Braunschweig: Thünen-Institut für Betriebswirtschaft.
- **GLFA Gesamtverband der deutschen Land- und Forstwirtschaftlichen Arbeitgeberverbände** (2019): Hintergrundpapier zur Beschäftigung von Saisonarbeitskräften 2019. Online: https://www.glfa.de/saisonarbeitskraefte/ (12.06.2020).
- **Hänsle, Walter** (2020): § 40 AufenthG, in: Decker, Andreas/Bader, Johann/Kothe, Peter (Hg.): Beck'scher Online-Kommentar Migrations- und Integrationsrecht, München: C.H.Beck.
- **Huber, Bertold/Göbel-Zimmermann, Ralph** (2016): §§ 40f. AufenthG, Rn. 1-2, in: Huber, Bertold (Hg.): Beck'scher Online-Kommentar Ausländerrecht, München: Verlag C.H. BECK.
- Initiative Faire Landarbeit (2020): Initiative Faire Landarbeit. Bericht 2019. Online: https://igbau.de/Binaries/Binary13929/2019-Bericht-Saisonarbeit-Landwirtschaft-Online.pdf (12.06.2020).
- **Kindergeld.org** (n. d.): Kindergeld für Ausländer. Kindergeldanspruch ohne deutsche Staatsangehörigkeit. Online: https://www.kindergeld.org/kindergeld-fuer-auslaender.html (12.06.2020).
- López-Sala, Ana/Molinero, Yoan/Jolivet, Mélanie/Eremenko, Tatiana/Beauchemin, Cris/Samuk, Sahizer/Consterdine, Erica (2016): Seasonal Immigrant Workers and Programs in UK, France, Spain and Italy. temper Working Paper 1/2016, Online: https://www.temperproject.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Working-Paper-1-DF2.pdf (22.07.2020).
- Mävers, Gunther (2016): § 15a BeschV. In: Offer, Bettina/Mävers, Gunther (Hg.): Beck'scher Online-Kommentar Beschäftigungsverordnung, München: Verlag C.H. BECK.
- Martín, Ivan/di Bartolomeo, Anna/de Bruycker, Philippe/Renaudiere, Géraldine/Salamońska, Justyna/Venturini, Alessandra (2015): Exploring New Avenues for Legislation for Labour Migration to the European Union, Studie für den LIBE-Ausschuss des Europäischen Parlaments, Europäisches Parlament: Brüssel.
- **OECD** (2008): Workers in Seasonal Employment. Glossary of Statistical Terms. Online: https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=2936 (22.07.2020).
- Parusel, Bernd/Schneider, Jan (2010): Deckung des Arbeitskräftebedarfs durch Zuwanderung, Studie der deutschen Kontaktstelle für das Europäische Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN), Working Paper 32 der Nationalen Kontaktstelle des EMN und der Forschungsgruppe, Nürnberg: Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge.
- Rabe, Heike/Brandt, Lisa (2015): Bedarfsanalyse Mobile Beratungsstellen für ausländische Arbeitnehmerinnen und Arbeitnehmer. Deutsches Institut für Menschenrechte (Hrsg.). Online: https://www.institut-fuer-menschenrech-te.de/fileadmin/user_upload/Publikationen/Weitere_Publikationen/DIMR_Abschlussbericht_Bedarfsanalyse_mobile_Beratungsstellen_S-H.pdf (12.06.2020).
- Späth, Jochen/Brändle, Tobias/Reiner, Marcel/Boockmann, Bernhard (2018): Auswirkungen des Mindestlohns im Bereich Saisonarbeit. Studie im Auftrag der Mindestlohnkommission. Institut für angewandte Wirtschaftsforschung e. V.: Tübingen.
- **SVR Sachverständigenrat Deutscher Stiftungen für Migration und Integration** (2018): Legale Migrationswege nach Deutschland für Drittstaatsangehörige ohne Schutzperspektive, SVR: Berlin.

Tangermann, Julian/Grote, Janne (2017): Illegale Beschäftigung von Drittstaatsangehörigen in Deutschland. Studie der deutschen nationalen Kontaktstelle für das Europäische Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN). Working Paper 74 des Forschungszentrums des Bundesamtes, Nürnberg: Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge.

- Wagner, Bettina/Hassel, Anke (2015): Europäische Arbeitskräftemobilität nach Deutschland Ein Überblick über Entsendung, Arbeitnehmerfreizügigkeit und Niederlassungsfreiheit von EU-Bürgern in Deutschland, Hans-Böckler-Stiftung: Düsseldorf.
- Zoll (o. J.): Verpflegung und Unterkunft für Saisonarbeitskräfte. Online: https://www.zoll.de/DE/Fachthemen/Arbeit/Zeitarbeit-Arbeitnehmerueberlassung/Mindestarbeitsbedingungen/Mindestlohn-Mindestlohngesetz/Berechnung-Zahlung-Mindestlohns/Kost-Logis-Saisonarbeitskraefte/kost-logis-saisonarbeitskraefte_node.html (12.06.2020).

List of Abbreviations

ECJ	European Court of Justice
EMN	European Migration Network
et al.	et alia (and more)
EU	European Union
f.	and the following page
ff.	and the following pages
NGO	Non-Governmental-Organization
n.d.	no date
no.	number
p.	page
REG	Return Expert Group
subs.	subsection

List of Tables

Table 1:

Transposition of the EU Seasonal Workers Directive into German law

14

Publications of the Research Centre of the Federal Office (Selection)

Publications available in English I

Brief analyses

Working Paper

WP 88

Attracting and Supporting International

Start-Ups and Innovative Entrepreneurs in Germany. Study by the German National

Contact Point for the

European Migration Network (EMN).

Author: Janne Grote in cooperation with: Ralf

Sänger / Kareem Bayo (2020)

WP 86 The role of migration authorities in handling

third-country nationals who constitute a threat to public security in Germany. Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN).

Author: Friederike Haberstroh (2020)

WP 85 Attracting and retaining international students

in Germany. Study by the German National
Contact Point for the European Migration

Network (EMN)

Authors: Paula Hoffmeyer-Zlotnik and Janne

Grote (2019)

WP 84 Beneficiaries of protection travelling to their

country of origin: Authorization, Policies and Revocation Procedure in Germany. Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN)

Author: Janne Grote (2019)

WP 83 Developments in Germany in the context of

visa liberalisation. Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration

Network (EMN).

Author: Paula Hoffmeyer-Zlotnik (2019)

02/2020 Religious affiliation, religious practice and

social integration of refugees. Author: Manuel Siegert (2020)

05/2019 Children and Adolescents after the Flight.

Author: Cristina de Paiva Lareiro (2019)

04/2019 Social Contacts of Refugees.

Author: Manuel Siegert (2019)

01/2019 Second wave of the IAB-BAMF-SOEP Survey.

Language skills and employment rate of

refugees improving with time.

Authors: Herbert Brücker, Johannes Croisier, Yuliya Kosyakova, Hannes Kröger, Giuseppe Pietrantuono, Nina Rother and Jürgen Schupp

(2019)

Annual Reports (latest)

PB Migration, Integration, Asylum. Political De-

velopments in Germany 2018. Annual Policy Report by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN)

(2019)

Series of Reports on Migration & Integration

WM Migration Monitoring: Educational and Labour

Migration to Germany. Annual Report 2019. Author: Johannes Graf

FM Freedom of Movement Monitoring: Migration

of EU Nationals to Germany.

Annual Report 2019. Author: Johannes Graf SoKo Potential of Asylum Applicants: Analysis of

"Social Component" Data relating to

Applicants' Social Structure. Annual Report 2019. Author: Barbara Heß

Further publications of the Research Centre - only available in German

Summaries in English are available on the BAMF website (see link below)

Working Paper

WP 87 Menschen mit Migrationshintergrund aus

muslimisch geprägten Ländern in Deutschland. Analysen auf Basis des Mikrozensus 2018). Authors: Katrin Pfündel, Anja Stichs and Nadi-

ne Halle (2020)

Research Reports

FB 36 Integration von Geflüchteten in ländlichen

Räumen.

Authors: Tabea Rösch, Hanne Schneider, Johannes Weber and Susanne Worbs (2020)

FB 35 Ausländische nicht-akademische Fachkräfte

> auf dem deutschen Arbeitsmarkt. Eine Bestandsaufnahme vor dem Inkrafttreten des Fachkräfteeinwanderungsgesetzes. Authors: Johannes Graf and Barbara Heß

(2020)

FB 34 Geförderte Rückkehr aus Deutschland: Motive

und Reintegration. Eine Begleitstudie zum

Bundesprogramm StarthilfePlus.

Authors: Martin Schmitt, Maria Bitterwolf and

Tatjana Baraulina (2019)

Zwischenbericht I zum Forschungsprojekt FB 33

"Evaluation der Integrationskurse (EvIk)". Erste

Analysen und Erkenntnisse.

Authors: Anna Tissot, Johannes Croisier, Giuseppe Pietrantuono, Andreea Baier, Lars Ninke, Nina Rother, Christian Babka von Gostomski (2019)

Brief Analyses

05/2020 Entwicklungen in der Wohnsituation Geflüch-

Author: Kerstin Tanis (2020)

04/2020 Fluchtspezifische Faktoren im Kontext des

> Deutscherwerbs bei Geflüchteten. Familienkonstellation. Gesundheitsstand und Wohnsi-

Authors: Andreea Baier, Anna Tissot and Nina

Rother (2020)

03/2020 Problemlagen geflüchteter Integrationskurs-

teilnehmender. Bedarfe und Nutzung von

Migrationsberatungsangeboten.

Authors: Anna Tissot and Johannes Croisier

(2020)

01/2020 Dritte Welle der IAB-BAMF-SOEP-Befragung

> von Geflüchteten. Geflüchtete verbessern ihre Deutschkenntnisse und fühlen sich in Deutschland weiterhin willkommen.

Authors: Cristina de Paiva Lareiro, Nina Rother

and Manuel Siegert (2020)

03/2019 Volljährige Asylantragsteller in Deutschland im

ersten Halbjahr 2018. Sozialstruktur, Qualifika-

tionsniveau und Berufstätigkeit. Author: Barbara Heß (2019)

02/2019 Ankommen im deutschen Bildungssystem.

Bildungsbeteiligung von geflüchteten Kindern

und Jugendlichen.

Author: Cristina de Paiva Lareiro (2019)

Annual Reports (latest)

MB Migrationsbericht des Bundesamtes für Migra-

tion und Flüchtlinge im Auftrag der Bundesre-

gierung Bericht 2018 (2020)

JB Migrations- und Integrationsforschung -

> Jahresbericht 2018 des Forschungszentrums Migration, Integration und Asyl im Bundesamt

für Migration und Flüchtlinge (2019)

Imprint

Publisher:

Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge Nationale EMN-Kontaktstelle und Forschungszentrum Migration, Integration und Asyl 90343 Nürnberg

Author:

Claudia Lechner | Division FI - International Migration and Migration Governance

Date:

07/2020

Print:

Federal Office for Migration and Refugees

Layout

Federal Office for Migration and Refugees

Photo:

GettyImages/Andreas Coerper

This publication will be available for download as a PDF file meeting accessibility guidelines.

Citation

Lechner, Claudia (2020): Attracting and Protecting Seasonal Workers from Third Countries. Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN). Working Paper 89 of the Research Centre of the Federal Office for Migration and Refugees, Nuremberg: Federal Office for Migration and Refugees.

ISSN:

1865-4967

This publication is published by the Federal Office for Migration and Refugees as part of its public relations. The publication is available free of charge and is not intended for sale. It may not be used by political parties nor political candidates or election campaigners during an election campaign for the purpose of canvassing. This applies to elections for the Bundestag, Landtag, local government elections as well as elections to the European Parliament.

Visit us



www.facebook.com/bamf.socialmedia @BAMF_Dialog

Other language

www.bamf.de/forschung www.bamf.de/emn